
1

\

t-

r$n =--=-

-¿1,',4.

T919 L# UEf,Tft. N98ã

El ¿i¿anÍe GflU{*Ty elpasÍór X#Illt.

The Giant Goliath and the Shepherd David. (David's sling is labeled "International Law.")
The United States and Mexico, 1847.

MYTHS,
MISDEEDS, ønò

MISUNDERSTANDINGS
The Roors 0f Conphcr m lJ.S.-Mextcan ReLarrons

Edited by

Jaime E. Rodríguez O. and Kathryn Vincent

SR
BOOKS

A Scholarly Resources Inc. Imprint
Wilmingfon, Delav/are



i','lj
¡-t a.-

. .¡ ,L,/

tt ,t ..t
/\ I' ,,¡

,rLi'-'
È

The Colonization and Loss of
Texas: A Mexican Perspective

J o s efi.na Zo raida Vázque z*

Toony rr sEEMs INcoMeREHENSIBLE that despite the clear signs of expan-

sionism in its neighbor to the north, the Spanish and subsequently the
lrfex!9an government repeatedly encouraged and authorized colonization
of Texas by A4glg-Ameriç-anQ. Nevertheless, these actions should be ana-

ílZèiI within the context of their time. On the one hand, in the first de-
cades of the 1800s the concept of Mexican nationaljty had not yet acquired
its full meauiqg, and the immense expanse of sparsely occupied Mexican
têrätöt needed to be settled. On the other hand, the"success enjoyed by
the immigratiOq polïcy of thë United States seemed to make imitation
ailvisable.
-" --ln 1'783 the United States consisted of 2,305,000 square kilometers
(krn?); after the Louisiana Purchase in 1803 and the Adams-Onís Treaty
of 1819, its size increased to 4,631,000 km2, bounded in part by New
Spain's territory. \Mhen it was founded in 1821, the Mexican Empire ex-
tended over 4,429,000 km2(not includingthe 445,683 kmztemporarily
added by the short-lived union of the Central American provinces)'t But
their symmetry in terrilorial area was not matched by the respective
demographies of the United States and Mexico. In 1790 the United States

had 4 million inhabitants and New Spain 5 million; by 1810 the ratio had

begun to reverse itself, for the former's population had increased to
7.5 million, whereas the latter's was around 6 million. By 1830 the dif-
ference had become more striking, with the United States at almost
13 million and Mexico at a standstill. In 1845, on the eve of the war

*The author is grateful to Frank de la Teja for his corrections and
suggestions.

I'When Mexico declared independence in 1821, the provinces of Central
America, known as the Kingdom of Guatemala, joined the new Mexican Empire'
In I 823, after the abdication of Emperor Agustín, those provinces withdrew peace-
fully and formed the Republic of Centro América.
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48 Josefina Zoraida Vázquez

between the United States and Mexico, there was an obvious asymmetry:

The United States had more than 20 million inhabitants, whereas Mexico

stitl hàd only 7.5 million.
---- Büt of even greater concern at the time the new Mexican nation was

established in 1821 was population distribution. The central part of the

country,w.as heavily populared, whereas the 1793 census showed barely

t*!F[O inna¡itants in the-Californias, 31,000 in New Mexico, and 5,000

in Texas. Thq sparse population and attacks from hostile Indians made

colonization ã pìiorìtyìn oid"t to defend such a huge frontier. Although

MexieoinvitedCatholics-Anglo Americans as well Europeans-Jo settle

the northein territoriei, with the optimistic view that they would be inte-

grated into Mexico in the same way that Irish catholic immigrants had

úeen absorbed in Spain, the majority of colonists proved to be Anglo

Americans and Protestants.
As we know, itre idsult *as disastrous for Mexico. Although the Anglo-

American colonists received generous concessions, privileges, exemp-

tions, anil even juridical practices alien to Spanish tradition, it proved

impossible for Mexico to prevent the loss of Texas,, where most of the

Anglo Americans had settled. In addition, to justify their actions the new

Texans laùnched a campaign to disc.redit Mexico, which naturally led to

resentment and a breakdown in communication between the two nations.

Notwithstanding its importance, only North Americans, primarily Tex-

ans, have written the history of this event, placing special emphasis on

the truth of the grievances enumerated in the Texas Declaration of Inde-

pendence, a political document that contains many inaccurac.ies and even

?älSetoo¿., The result is â history that depicts an Anglo-American struggle

fôiiiuËttv against a tyrannical Mexico.
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rights in the Spanish province as a former resident of territories that had
been Spanish. The governor of Texas regarded him with suspicion; but
the Ayuntamiento (town council) of San Anto¡io de Béxar, worried about
Indian attacks, supported Austin's request to establish himself and three
hundred families'iñere and persuaded ìhe gouernor to iiansmit the pro-
posal tö the commandant general of New Spain's Interior Provinces.' Optimistic about the results, Austin returned to the United States.
Commander Joaquín de Arredondo, after consulting with the recently es-
tablished Provincial Deputation of Texas,2 approved the request on Janu-
ary 17,1821. Austin died in June, however, and it was his son Stephen
who took advantage of the Texas concêssion and who, with sixteen com-
panions, arrived in San Antonio on August 12 to begin exploration of
Texan territory.
' The governor raised no objection to transferring to Stephen Austin
the rights previously granted to his father. He also approved the plan pro-
posed by Austin for land distribution: 640 acres for each male colonist,
320 per wife, and 160 per child. Austin also asked for 80 acres for each
slave, but the Mexican government was limited by the colonization law
and the antislavery mood. The conditions set forth for the elder Austin
remained in effect: Three hundred families would be permitted to enter
from Louisiana, all Roman Catholics,.of good customs, sworn "to obey
and to defend the government of the king of Spain [emphasis added]" and
to respect the Political Constitution of the Spanish Monarchy-. Article 12
of the constitution established that the religion of the land was and would
be in perpetuity "the one true Roman, Catholic, and Apostolic faith."[hus,\
'therffi-õõIonìsls noi only entered Texas as Catholics but also freely
àccêptéd religious intolerance and a monarchical system of governmentÌ'

i Austin was mistaken about some aspects of his father's enterprise.
He believed that the entire concession had been granted to him and that
he possessed the freedom to establish his own rules and to determine the
amount of land that he could give to the settlers. He considered himself
familiar with Spanish laws and customs because he had resided in Loui-
siana.3 That was not the case; the Spanish government had retained the
existing French practices in that province upon its acquisition in 1763.
Austin authorized the first contracts, and families began to arrive in San

2The provincial deputations, created by the Constitution of 1812, were lo-
cally elected bodies that administered a province under the direction of an offi-
cial appointed by the central government.

3StephenAustin toMaryAustin, July 13, 1821, andAustin to GovernorAn-
tonio Martínez, October 1821. Eugene C. Barker, eð.,The Aastin Papers,3 vols.
(vols. I and 2, Washington, DC: American Historical Association, 1924, 1928;
vol. 3, Austin: University of Texas Press, 1927), 1:401, 420.

The Beginning of the Colonization of Texas

The Adams-onís Treaty of 1819 ceded some Spanish territories to

the United Siáiei-ãrid, atìhe äãiñe time; authotized tiansfer of the af-

fected ..Spanish" population to óther parts of the Spanish Empire. In 1821,

juÌt tefore indepenãence was achieved by Mexico, a colonization law

was passed by Spain. The legislation was drafted by Miguel Ramos Arizpe

and ãther Mexican deputies to the Spanish cortes (parliament) and re-

mained in effect until l824.It should be noted that Article 28 0f the colo-

nizatign law prohibited the importøtìaiy òf slaves into Spalfph territorfeq

$lémancipared those brought there. It did not require that colonists be

öatholic because the 1812 constitution had declared Catholicism to be

the kingdom's only religion.
M_g,spq Austin appeared !aTgxgç.iq 1820, having been forced to emi-

graté fiom the Louisiana territoribecause of bankruptcy. He claimed his
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Antonio just as all of Mexico-as, on July L7,1821, the governor of Texas

himself had done-was swearing loyalty to the Flan de Iguala, which

provided an agenda for independence.- 
The second invasion of Texas by the u.s. filibusterer James Long,

who was defeated by the authorities in October 1821, drew the attention

of the Mexican Empire to the security of its northern frontier. When the

new Mexican Congress convened, as one of its first acts it created the

Colonization Commission, which began to collect land petitions as well

âs suggestions for openinf'the Eastern Interior Provinces, the northeast-

ern region of the empire, to free trade with the United States' The com-

mission recommended that these provinces be protected by a special army

whose men would be rewarded with land in Texas. Similar grants \Pere

made to Indians who converted to Catholicism.
. when Austin returned to San Antonio in March 1822 with still more

families, the governor advised him to ratify his concession with the new

national government. In late April he appeared in Mexico City, where

other Anglo-American petitioners already had gathered.a Austin made

friends in high government circles with his offers to draw up a map of

Texas, to remove sediment obstructing navigation of the Colorado River'

and to carry out the Indian pacification campaign proposal that he pre-

sented to the new commandant general of the Eastern Interior Provinces'

The Mexican Congress did not receive the colonization commission's

report until July; the following month, it considered several proposed laws.

The principal bill contained the same generous conditions provided by

Spanish law: It prohibited the sale and purchase of slaves a¡d declared

tlie children of slaves free at age fourteen. It required that the colonists be

catholic, and it gave preference "to natives ofthe country and in particu-

lãi to those in the militaiy.'i The bill presented by Bernardo Gutiérrez de

târa, representative from Tamaulipas, dealt with procedures and the sys-

tem for measuring land grants. It stressed that foreigners should "change

their language to that of the Empire and convert their slaves into free

servants who may be emancipated through work and adjudication." It set

forth provisions to attract the Indians and granted them provincial depu-

tationi. The most radical plan was submitted by Valentín Gómez Farías.

It gave preference to the nomadic Indian tribes of Texas and even to those

in territories "bordering the Mexican Empire," and it categorically pro-

aBenjamin Milam, Andrew Erwin, Robert Leftwich, and James Wilkinson.
Later Haãen Edwards, Daniel Stuart, and Arthur'Wavell arrived. Diego Barry'
Tadeo Ortiz, and Felipe O'Reilly also presented colonization projects. Eugene C.

Barker, The Lift of Stephen F. Austin, Founder of Texas, 1793-1836 (Austin:

University of texai Preis, 1980), 16-17; Juan A. Mateos, Historía parlamentaria
de los Coigresos Mexicanos de 1821 a 1857, vol. 2 (Mexico: Vicente R. S. Reyes,

1877),123.
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hibited slavery, conferring freedom on any slave who so much as touched
Mexican soil.s

Emperor Agustín I dissolved the First Constituent Congress before it
could draft the law, but. the Junta Nacional Instituyente, the body that
replaced it,SLpp_roved a colonization law in January 1823. The new law
incorporated most of ihê prövisions discussêd by the diSsôlved congress.
In addition, it g19y_ia9d tax_relief for foieigners, and it favored empresarios
(concessionaäês) who introducèd ät least two hundred families into the
e.mpiie.. Like the earlier congressional proposals, the new law provided
for an orderly process of obtaining Mexican citizenship.

Austin succeêded in having his contract ratified on March 10th. The
Council of State stipulated that the religion of the thr_ee hundred families
should be Catholic, Apostolic, and Roman and that, "if more families
were authorized, those families should settle in the interior of the prov-
ince alongside earlier populations; the security of the State makes this

þîecaution necessary, because if a large population of persons who speak
the same language anà share the same customs and connections with a

neighboring nation should exclusively occupy the same land area . . .

they could someday disturb the peace of the Empire."6
Agustín de Iturbide abdicated his throne in March 1823, but not be-

fore reconvenìng the First Constituent Congress, which recommended rati-
fication of Austin's concessions. The Junta Nacional Gubernativa (National
Governing Council) signed it on April 14,1823.

- 
The provinces, which had forced Iturbide to abdicate, insisted on the

election of a Second Constituent Congress, which created the federal sys-
tem in 1824. One of the most difficult questions faced by the new legisla-
ture was how to organize Mexico's large, sparsely populated regions.
Although most areas wished to be independent states, Congress proposed
combining several underpopulated provinces into single states, among
them Texas and Coahuila. The Texas iepresentative to Congress did not
have prècise instructions on the matter. Congress, therefore, decreed the
union on May 7, L824,but stated that "Texas has the right to form a single
state as soon as it feels capable of doing jo."? The action meant that Texas
iost for a time the autonomy it had enjoyed because of its distant location
and that its defense needs lost urgency. Te1-as's dependence.on Saltillo,
the capital of the newly formed state of Coahuila y Tejas, immediately
became a problem. As a poor region, Texas could not organize an effec-
tive defense against either "hostile" India'irs or the depredations of Anglo

5All of the schemes appear in Mateos, Hístoria parlamentaria, Sl2-837.
6Consejo de Gobierno, February 18, 1823, in Vicente Filisola, Memorias

para la historia de la Guerra de Tejas, 2 vols. (Mexico: Cumplido, I 849), I : 1 l5-
120.

TMateos, H istoría p arlamentaria, 7 7 0.
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Americans. Distancs^also hampered all its administrative and judicial

proceduresiôapital cases, for example, had to be sent to the capital for
adjudication.

The Provincial Deputation of Texas, which would be eliminated be-

cause states transformed their provincial deputations into legislatures,

refused to send a delegate to the Constituent Congress of the state of
Coahuila y Tejas in August 1824.In September, the Texan deputy to the

national .ongr"is declared that Texas preferred to remain a territory.s Ini-
tially, many federal deputies supported the position of Texas. Congress-

man Ramos Arizpe, however, pointed out to the Ayuntamiento of San

Antonio thatiunder the new colonization law the states controlled their
public lands; and the national government administered the lands in the

territories. Thus, if Tgxag-1 yþich lacked sufficient. population to become

a separate state, beðäme'a territory, it would lose control of its public

lands. His argument w?s effective, and on October4, 1824, Coahuila aqd

Texas were united'as a single state.

--Tt,e government of Saltitlo lost no time in suspending the Texas Pro-

vincial Deputation, which was a severe blow to the region in that it no

longer had a separate autonomous representative body to resolve its prob-

lems. The three states of Coahuila y Tejas, Nuevo León, and Tamaulipas

remained part of a unified military organization that, until 1832, had the

good fortune to be under the command of two distinguished and honor-

able generals-Anastasio Bustamante and Manuel Mier y Terán. This

would have an impact on the future of Texas'

Cgngresg. di.scussed the thorny problem of slave¡y- in lanuaty 1824'

The body immediately. p¡ohiblted .th-e slave !¡3de. The wealthy settler

Yared E. Groce inquire¿ iftiris decision affected slaves already in the state,

in which 
"usb 

h" requested authorization to remove his slaves.e His peti-

tion generated heated debate in Congress. Although the majority of legis-

lators desired to immediately free all slaves in the national territory, they

proved unable to resolve the issues presented by property rights. Their

differences of opinion kept abolition.of slay-çly from.þein-g* 199!¡¡.ded in

.Americans. .- ' Minister of Interior Lucas Alamán called the attention of the legi-
Slators to the dangers involved in leaving the frontier area under state

sConstitución Federal de 1824. Crónicas, vol. 2 (Mexico: Cámara de

Dipurados, 197 4), 1 32-'7 35.
eNettie Lee Benson, "Texas as Viewed from Mexico' 1820-1834," South-

western Hístorical Quarterly 90, no. 3 (January 1987): 242.
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control, but the colonization law approved in August 1824 kept under
federal control only land within twenty leagues of the border and within
ten leagues of the coasts. The new colonization law gave preference to
Mexicans and to Indians "of all nations bordering on the state and also of
'the 

nomadic tribes within the state [of Coahuila y Tejas]." The coloniza-
tion law reiterated the proþib1lio¡1.of the importation of slaves into Mexico
established by the decree of!u{y 13,1824.

-Approval for settlement contracts in Texas was transferred from
Mexico City to the state government in Saltillo, which was immediately
besieged by foreign speculators anó. empresarios, who obliged the legis-
lative assembly of Coahuila to ratify its own colonization law at the be-
ginning of 1825. Although antislavery sentiment predo¡ninated iu the stapg
legislature, emancipation \ilas not approved because of intense lobbying

þy tt " 
Anglo-American settlers.. Solving the slavery problem was left to

the state constituent congress. Notwithstanding the effect of Mexico's
antislavery position, the economic crisis, less-generous land policy, and
soaring land prices in the United States guaranteed a steady inflow of
'settlers to Texas. By.-!!3fch L8?_T ryQ qettlers had entered with Austin;
by Seplemþer 1824, the state commissioner of çolonizalion, Bùqn'de
Bastrop, had issued 272land titles for the first colony. The census of the
new Teiai séttlements the followingyear reported 1,800 inhabitants, of
whom 443 w.ere slaves.

'-'"-'-"- "Austin 
became convinced that he could hope to preserve the slave

status of only those slaves who already had been introduced and, with
luck, their children until age fourteen. Nevertheless, this did not keep
him from fighting to maintain the institutio4 of slavery, which he consid-
ered to ¡e ñmããärenAltô thé"succ"ir óf nìr enterprise. On June 5, 1824,
Austin's colonists prepared a brief stating that their slaves had been in-
troduced under Spanish imperial law, confirmed by the Constituent Con-
gress; that they were family servants, not Africans; and that they were not
subject to being purchased and sold. The settlers asked for exemption
from the emancipation law, which freed slaves introduced into Mexico
and slave children at age fourteen, or for permission to take their "ser-
vants" to the United States. A year later, Austin proposed that the Anglo-
American colonists be allowed to introduce slaves until 1840, at which
time they would free the male grandchildren of slaves at age twenty-five
and the females at aþe fifteen.'o

There ìs no doubt that, from the beginning, the settlers violated the
conditions set for them. Be-c--ausg,-gf-Mexico's urgent need to attract
colonists and to defend its population from Indian attacks and from
Igft¡- Äniöiiðân èxþänsionism, the government turned a blind eye to the

roBarker, Lífe of Austin, 203'2Q4.
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illegalities: fLqJu+jgtitt of settlers were not Catholic; slaves had beqn

i4qoduced; anã there wâs tari¿ speculation.rt
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part or parts of the land or lands of said territory, shall immediately present
themselves to me and show me their titles or documents. . . . If they do
not do this, the said lands will be sold."r2

Edwards confused his authority as a militia commander, a post given
ernpresarios, with that of a military commandant, a Mexican army posi-
tion that existed in Nacogdoches because of its border location. *He, g!ço
antagonized longtime Mexican residents, who naturally resented having
a newcomer question their rights and threaten thern with sale of their prop-
erties. Because this was specifically prohibited under the terms of their
ðôntracts, they complained to the state legislature. In addition, Edwards
committed fraud in the elections for alcalde of Nacogdoches, which caused

the departmental governor to declare the elections invalid and to deprive
Edwards of any authority to demand titles from residents or to sell their
properties. The governor also pointed out that Edwards already faced the
serious charge of attempting to supplant the military commandant. Unable
to manage the situation, E_{yl+-tdç çp1".-o*ff-fo1tþ9 United States, leaving his
bjg!þgl.Sqd1mip i¡¡ Nacogdoches. Although it seems that he wanted to
"setttitril ðoiôii, tr" threatened ro go in search of foreign assiitance.

By mid-1826 news of Edwards's abuses had come to the attention of
the commander of the Eastern Interior Provinces, Anastasio Bustamante,
and the minister of war, and the government decided to cancel his con-
tract. Austin advised Edwards to try to mend matters, but on Decem-
ber 16, 7826,Benjamin Edwards proclaimed the Republic of Fredonia.
The political chief of Texas made a conciliatory announcement and of-
fered to pardon all rebels who would surrender; nonetheless, the Anglo
Americans chose to fight. Although government troops and Austin's mi-
litia put the rebel leaders to flight, the incident demonstrated the dangers

of Anglo-American colonization. Adding this to the fact that a year ear-
-IGl*Tl[-e U.S. ministei to Mexii'o, Joel Poinsett, had suggested that his
country might be interested in purchasing territory, Mexico began to have
rdiiewed súspicions about the objectives of the United States.

The Constitution of Coahuila y Tejas and the Regulations Laid
Down for Colonization

The Edwards uproar had hardly quieted when the promulgation of
the constitution of Coahuila y Tejas in 1827 stirred up new unrest. Texas
became the Béxar Department, and remained so until 1834, when it was
divided into three departments-San Antonio-Béxar, Brazos, and
Nacogdoches. In addition, the new constitutional structure naturally elimi-
nated the powers that the empresarios had received during the early tran-
sitional period; as a r-esult; theresidents of Texgg"f4ped tlp ilconvenience

r2Barker, Lift of Austin, 152.

Organizing the Colonies

At the end of t822the governor ofTexas had ordered that every settle-

ment of colonists should elect an alcalde (local magistrate) and a militia
commander. In 1823 the commander of the Interior Provinces vested Austin

with the rank of lieutenant cblonel of the militia, and the Provincial Depu-

tation listed his responsibilities. He was to exercise absolute authority,

except in the case oì iapital crimes, which were to be turned over to the

gou"ino, for sentencing. To simplify his administrative and judicial du-

Iies, Austin divided'his colony into districts for the election of alcaldes,

and he drafted instructions and regulations that remained in force until

1828, at which time the 1827 constitution of the state of Coahuila y Tejas

went into effect.
The extent öf trust placed in A¡stin þy state and fe-deral authorities

was?Tþiêlsåd"ìn fùriñer Còäôessions: in !825 a new contract for three

hundreã families; in 1827 a contract for five hundred, near Galveston

Bay, for !h9 purpo.se of deveioping colmglcial and trade activities' and

itren anotirãr contract for one hundred families; and in 1828 a contract for

three hundred families. The Galveston contract, on federal territory, was

granted as a reward for Austin's help in quelling an uprising in the colony

of.Haden Edwards.
In other colonies, with the exception of those of Martín de León and

Green DeWitt, lawlessness prevailed, to the point of sale of nonexistent

lands. Adventurers and fugitives from justice had come in full force' The

contact between people from different cultures and with different values

caused ,nuny probl"ms, as in the example of Haden Edwards's colony' In

1825 Edwardi hud obtuin"d a contract to settle eight hundred families on

land near Nacogdoches. Although his contract contained the usual condi-

tions, Edwards was a violent and uneducated.man who overestimated the

authority he had been given. Furthe¡1nore, Jivi4g on "his landl' were Mexi.

"un, 
*å many squatters of every.c-onceivablg backgr-ound and national-

iiy. Guiding túe colony iequiied ihö kind of prudent action of which he

,äi ln.upuUte. When he installed himself in Nacogdoches in October, he

declared himself "empresario and military commander" and demanded

that "individuals or families resident within the limits of the specified

territory [ofhis concession] and all those who claim to have a right to any

nThe empresarlos stephen F. Austin and Green c. Dewitt, however, main-

tained that they had not a^bused their authority and that they had charged the

colonists only ior drawing up boundary lines and issuing titles and for the effort

and expenses involved in negotiating permits.
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ol_!g-!ng Ío f¡-aycl.lq Saltillo, seat of the legislature and the state high

couri of justice, to resolve many important questions. The principal prob-

täö trowever, origináiäd in Ärticle l3 of the state constitution regarding

slavery. As initially proposed, the article declared: "The state prohibits

slavery absolutely and forever in all its territory, and slaves now in it
shall be free from the day the constitution is published in this capital. A
law shall regulate the mode of indemnifying those who owned them at

the time of publication."13

, With his usual shrewdness, Austin presented a brief that focused on

the sore point of how the state would obtain the money to indemnify the

slaveholders; he pointed out the injustice of the alternatives: either im-

posing on the people of coahuila y Tejas the financial burden of freeing

Texan slaves or seizing the property of slave owners. The pressures he

brought to bear were effective, and, thanks to the support of the

Ayuntamiento of San Antonio and the lobbying of Baron de Bastrop and

James Brown Austin (younger brother of Stephen), the final version was

softened: "After the promulgation of the Constitution in the capital of
each district, no one shall be born a slave in the state, and after six months

the introduction of slaves under any pretext shall not be permitted."l4

When Article 13 became law, it ordered the municipalities to draw up

a fist oîäãvås--and to ¡¡r_form the p!áte government every other month of
b=tÏtÑãd deaths; and it set forth measures to improve the slaves' condi-

ti'òns. Of slaves who had been included in wills, 10 percent were to be

freed, and should there be no heirs, all were to be freed unless their owner

had been murdered. The law also charged the ayuntamientos with provid-

ing the best possibl.e éãüðãiion fói-emancrpated children.'s-
- 

!o_¡ most Me¡i-c11r,pgliticians, the congg:pt of liberty was incompat-

ibfe wiih, 91av"ry.t-"itèr"fugbee argue¿ itrât ttrc;-Settlers diö'not believe

tt 
"y 

*è.è violating the national colonization law of 1824, 16 but his argu-

ment is misleading because that law clearly stated that "slaves introduced

contrary to the tenor of this provision would be free by the mere act of
treading Mexican soil." Furthermore, in 1824 Deputy Erasmo Seguín had

interpreted the Colonization law to mean the abolition of slavery, even

though it was not enforced because of scruples about property rights't7

This was a pityl total emancipation would have avoided many problems.

r3lester G. Bugbee, "slavery in Early Texas," Political Science Quarterly
13, no.3 (1898): 389-412.

r4H. P. N. Gammel, The Laws of Texas, 1822-1897, vol. I (Austin: Gammel
Book Company, 1898), 315.

'5J. P. Kimball , Laws and. Decrees of the State of Coahuila and Te.ras (Hous-

ton: Telegraph Power Press, 1839),78-79.
r6Bugbee, "Slavery in Early Texas," 407409.
!7Seguín to Bastrop, cited in Barker, Lífe of Austin' 202.
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In 1826, not having sufficient funds to indemnify slave owners, depu-
ties to the constitutional convention of coahuila y Tejas decreed vientre
ljbre."(frpe9-ory."al þ!rth), which was supposed to güarantee a solution in
the long run. However, it did not take Texan slavèholders long to dis-
öôneï a wây around the Iaw. Under the new system, master and slave
signed a contract before a notary or other authorized official prior to en-
tering Mexico. In this document, the slave acknowledged that he owed a
given arnount of money on receiving his freedom and that because he
wanted to accompany his master to Texas, he agreed to work for the latter
until he paid off his debt. Food and would be deducted from his
wagesr which
pêf-yðar) that

were set at an amount (in most cases, around twenty pesos
made repayment impossible; in this way, the debt-and

servitude-would be inherited, inasmuch as no slave would receive wages
until age eighteen, Austin's lobbying efforts in Saltillo, using the argu-
ment of labor shortage, resulted in a state decree on May 5, 1828, that
*ä1ï'cönträöTs not contrary to the laws of this state made in foreign coun-
trres between emigrants to, or inhabitants of, this state and servants or
hirelings introduced by ihêm are guaranteed as valid in this state."rs

Not long afterward, slave owners faced a new setback when on Sep-
tember 15, 1829, President Vicente Guerrero, then exercising extraordi-
nary powers because of a Spanish invasion, signed a decree emancipating
all slaves. He promised compensation "as soon as possible.,' Some U.S.
historians have described Mexico's antislavery position as expressing the
"language of their emotions," derived either from the French Revolution-
a hypocritical attitude that allowed for peonagere-s¡ i¡ rhetoric based
on the assefion that slavery did not exist in Mexico.2o These arguments
denote an ignorance of spanish history and the subtle differences in span-
ish laws about slavery.2tThey fail to consider the fact that the idea that all
persons are equal before the law was born in the Spanish world in the
six-tèêñth century to curb the excesses of the conquistadors in their treat-
m-e¡f _of the Indian population. African slavery was introduced into New
Spain, in part, fo address the labor shortage resulting from the steep de-
cline in indigenous population, but it never reached the high proportions

rsBugbee, "slavery in Early Texas," 409.
reEugene C. Barker, "The Influence of Slavery in the Colonization of Texas,"

Southwestern Historical Quarterly 28, no. I (1924).
2oBugbee, "Slavery in Early Texas," 392.
2r"under the Spanish law, the master could manumit his slaves without offi-

cial or judicial license. The slave, if cruelly treated, could institute judicial pro-
ceedings for sale to another master, and morè importantly, his freedom could be
compulsorily purchased by himself or by a third party ar his judicially appraised
market value." Hans vy'. Baade, "The Law of slavery in Spaniih Louisianã, tz6g-
1803"'in Louisiana's Legal Heritag¿, ed. Edward F. Hãss (pensacora: perdido
Bay Press, 1893), 75.
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of the Caribbean region. Although slavery had declined to the point where

it was almost nonexistent by the end of the eighteenth century, Spanish

liberals and later independent to end that unjust social

denied is the inertia of the state

Some of the Coahuilans and Texans sided with the Anglo-American set-

tlers, and most feared the consequences of drastic measures. Therefore,

when the political chief of Béxar, Ramón Múzquiz, received President

Guerrero's decree, he asked the State governor to make an exception for
the

strong a¡d.-almost
human race which has
'ðlëar that ttrey tràa nót
more than a thousand, and that he feared the consequences of enforcing

the measure. Governor Jos éMaríaYiezca turned the petition over to Presi-

dent Guerrero. Acknowledging the praiseworthy objective of the decree

to put an end to this most "shameful of human institutions that, unhap-

pily, has not been eliminated

.dom,'Viezca nevertheless stressed that enforcing the decree might incite
"disturbances against which we would be obliged to use violent and costly

measures."23

Although Múzqaiz had notified Austin in confidence of his actions,

rumor rapidly spread the news throughout the province. Never at a loss

for new arguments, the empresarlo maintained that the state constitution
"expressly recognized the right to own slaves by allowing them to be

introduced for six months after publication of the law." But this was not a

special consideration applied to the slavery regulation; rather, it was the

normal time laþse required by international custom so that no reform af-

fecting foreign countries would be enforced before there was time for
knowledge of it to be widely disseminated. Austin threatened to use ev-

ery channel at his disposal to press his case and insisted that the settlers

would defend their property. He pointed out that he owned only one not-

very-valuable woman slave but that his "constitutional rights as a Mexi-
can were just as much infringed as they would be if [he] owned a

thousand."2a.
Even before receiving Austin's arguments, P¡g,side¡1.-Guerr-ero ex:

9lPtfd þxaq f;,o¡p.-e1{o-1c-9ment p-f .his-.decr"ç-e"*rgrth.t¡lq warning thal no! 1 .

z2Múzquiz to Viezca, Béjar, October 17,1829, Texas Gazette, October 10,

I 830.
23José María Viezca to the minister of foreign relations, Leona Vicario,

November 14, 1829, in Barker, Austin Papers, 2:306-308.
zaAustin to Durst, November 17,1829, in Barker, Lifu of Austin' 215-216'
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single additional slave would be admitted into the state.2s Austin was ju-
.bilanf. Hè'announced ihài the Méxiöan goverhmenr was "rhe most liberal
and most generous government on Earth to immigrants. After being here
one year, one will never wish to r-e.-t¡¡rn to Uncle Sam."16 _

Defïning the Border

T_e-Mexiean Commission. on Boundaries, established in 18?1, fj-
nally was_ activated follo.ying the Repqbfig qf Frg{oqie.igçi_{çnt, which
iëñiñded thè federal government of the importance of the frontier re-
gion. The commission, headed by General Manuel Mier y Terán, left for
the border at the end of 182'7. Its instructions were to draw Mexico's
northern borderline in accord4nce with the 18l9qeaty between the United
Sfates ã-nõ Spain, to establish garrisons, to ascertain the number of troops
and kinds of fórtiÏications neeàed for defen$e of the.fi.ontiÈir, and;¡o re-
port on con-ditions thëie. Three scientists were brought along to help in
cì*teeTiäg useful þêögrâphical, botanical, zoological, and mineralogical
data.

Iq*[ebruary I 828, Mier y þrán. e4tered Telqs-. A perceprive and edu-
cated man, he had no trouble gr-asping the bitter reality there. Foreigners
outnumbered MexicanS-IO to 1.

Foreigners are unhappy about the political disorganization . . and
Mexicans complain about the privileges and better schools enjoyed
by foreigners. In addition to North Americans who settled there in the
days of the Spanish government, who are few in number, there are two
classes of colonists: The first are fugitives from the neighboring repub-
lic . . . thíeves and scoundrels; they are located between Nacogdoches
and the Sabinas River, which they are likely to cross and recross. . . .

The others are poor day laborers who havê not had the four or five
thousand pesos needed to purchase a piece of land in the north and be-
cause of their desire to become landowners . . . they are, in general,
hard-working and honest and they appreciate Mexico.27

But Mier y Terán found all of qhg ¡esidents of Texas qo be in agreement on
one thing: the'need tõ Soparate Texas from Ooahuilai He recommended
closer supeFfilióä äy ttre fedeial government and the installation of a
political chief in Nacogdoches.

2sMier y Terán to Austin, Pueblo Viejo, November 20, 1829, in Barker, Aøs-
tin Papers,2:290.

26Austin to James F. Perry, San Felipe Austin, December 31, 1829, cited in
Barker, Life of Austin,220.

27Mier y Terán to Guerra, Pueblo Viejo, November 14, 1829, Archivo
Histórico de la Secreta¡ía de la Defensa Nacional (hereafter cited as AHDN) XU
481.31738.
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Spain's short-lived attempt'to reconquer Mexico, and its attack on

Tappigo_iJ¡ July ]STg,temporarily distracted Mier, and certainly the gov-

ernment of President Guerrero, from the problems of the northern fron-
tier. But upon being named commandant general of Interior Provinces

not long aftep the Spanish were defeated, Mier once again focused his

attention on Texas. He was right in doing so, tgl 91" 9f the heaviest waveq

of immigratien -gcq¡lrred in ttrg f13.fl.lpgnthE óf 1829 an{ th9 beg!1i1e of
ì830.it* 

The popularity of Texas increased U.S. interest in purchasing it. Presi-

dent Jackson had urged Joel Poinsett, the U.S. minister to Mexico, to
persuade that government to sell the region to the United States. Poinsett

made himself persona non grata because of his interference in Mexican

Texas: A Mexican Perspective 6l
this spring."33 He had drafted a report to the minister of war in i829 in
which ,he*ur.g_ed lha! Mglicln- and Furopean colonization be promoted;
tþ3t o_Jde¡ þg im.pqsed on the colonies, which, except for rhose of Austin
and DeWitt, were full of irregularities; that galrisgns be established to-

oversee border and customs activities, especially because the initial peri-
-ödS ofeÍemption had expired; and that coastal shipping trade be encour-
aged. He considered this document to be so urgent and important that he
sent it to the minister with one of his agents so that the latter could pro-
vide whatever explanations might be necessary.3a

politics, and he was subsequently ¡eplaced by the Texas speculator An-
thony Butler, who was appoinled U..p, char-gÇ {'affaires in Mexiqo in I-pQQ'

Altho,Ughthè Mexiôan government refubed to consider either selling Texas

dr changilÈiti pöIiðäfSttiero;nãwconrðrs-ñôñ ihe UriTièd$iäþS,c,qf!în-
ueð tö ãnléi lri" iégiòti. Thä nèiüîriflüi ör angto-Àmerican immigrants

-ùâs 
compoSêd mainly o{-9p_gcuJ.ators agg.p-ggp"lg }yhs fav-o.red an-npxgfign

of Texas to the U.qitçd.S-tates. The commander of the Nacogdoches garri-

õñleportr;d b-Mi;; y'îerát that U.S' troops were moving toward the

border and that nev/spaper items had appeared boasting that Texas would
soon be purchased. Austin discussed these issues in his letters to different

riäîi Such as.Eugêne Bârker and Lester Bugbee, who criticized Mexican

"ambiguity" about slavery.3z

By the beginning of 1830, Mier y Terán had become pessimistic about

the prospects of holding Texas, and in a letter to Alamán he wrote that he

was sure Texas would be lost "this year and, according to public rumors,

2sAustin informed his brother that in the previous two months more than 150

families had arrived; thirteen days later, he wrote that in one month 200 more

families arrived, and they had made many contracts with wealthy people of Ala-
bama. Austin to Perry, January 3 and 16, 1830, cited in Barker, Life of Austin,
220-22r.

2eAustin to. . ., May 8, 1830, cited in ibid.,221.
3oAustin to Henry Austin, June 1, 1830, ibid.
3rAustin to W Martin, May 30, 1833, ibid., 223-224.
32See notes 19 ar'd20.

The Coloni¿ation-Law of April6, 1,830
a-- ' -'''

General Guerrero was deposed from the presidency at the beginning
of 1 830 and was succeeded as chief executive by Vice President Anastasio
Bustamanté, with Lucas Alamán as minister of foreign and interior af-
fairs. Upon receiving Mier's report, both officials were concerned about
the problem of Texas. For this reason, on February 8, Alamán presented
yet another colonization bill, which was published on April 6, 1830. The
two principal articles stated:

10. No variance shall be made for colonies already estab-
lished as regards slaves there present; but the national govern-
ment, or the government of each state, shall make it its immediate
responsibility to make sure that colonization laws shall be re-
spected and thal slaves shall not be reintroduced.- 

11. In exercise of the authority vestêd in the national Con-
gress by Article 7'of the law of August 18, 1824, there shall b,e

no colonization by foreigners in those states and territories bor-
Q.e¡ing on their nations of origin [emphasis added]. Therefore,
all still unfulfilled contracts and [those] which are contrary to
the law shall be suspended.3s

The provisions of the new law were meant to favor colonization by
poor Mexican families and by Mexican ex-convicts who, after complet-
ing their sentences, would be given land and resettlement assistance. It
provided for the creation of eight garrisons (which Mier would later

33Mier y Terán to Alamán, Tampico, January 2, 1830, Nettie Lee Benson
Latiri American Collection (hereafter cited as BLAC), García Papers ,36,2.

saReport of Mier y Terán to Guerra, Pueblo Viejo, November 14, 1 829, AHDN,
xU481.3/740.

35Manuel Dublán and José María Lozano, Legislación mexicana, vols. 2 and
3 (Mexico: Dublán y Lozano Hijos, 1876), 2:238-239.

people. By 1830, Au¡tiJr,.qe-9ryin-gly.r.gglgt.ed 1o the ineviteblq,".dçfç¡-ded

the gradüäTëi.tranciparion of slaves aì "founded in justice and in the well-
bêìng of the stafe,l'2e and he declared his opposition to Texasls being t¡ans-

ferred to the UnTted States unless the guarantees offered included the

àtolition of slavery.s Only three years later, however, he linked the fu-
ture of Texas with sláiery,3r a contradiction that was overloo\ed by histo-
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baptize with indigenous names like Tenochtitlán, Anáhuac, and Lipantitlán

in an attempt to Mexicanize the region).
The nel law responded to Mier's recommendations. Sup-e_rvision of

colonization was returned to the federal government, whoiê äfõnt was to*"'

èmtm"tliat ôontracts complied with the fedeial law, a requirement that

sbon baused problems between the federàl and state governments. The

law produced a great deal of anxiety, and even Mier was worried. In his

"Reflections" on this law, he wrote that he considered the prohibition

against introducing slaves to be inoperative, for the latter would enter
..*ith pup"tr falsely documenting their freedom," ?-r¡d þ9 said tha,t h-e hjm-

self would not dare to announce it to the colonists- for fear that flthey

would embrace- the interests of the North, about which they are still unde-
'. 

ò¡,drd [emphasis added], because t'hèy aiso are interested in.being Mexi-
' 

cans, on an equal footing with farmers from Louisianâ; ' ' ' Like any other

Mexicàn, I hate slavery, but this sentiment will not cause me to deceive

the goveinment gr the nation about its interests'"36

convinced that progress in agriculture depended on slavery, Mier y

Terán advised tolerance of the introduction of slaveS for a given number

"i øru;Uri;"ry ru 
"äiiôn 

pioä""iionîn thë co-a¡t,,wþ!ch could rnake

Mãxico a leader in the market. He found the wording of Article 11 to be

impolitic, and he counseled that only theterrnforeignerbe used instead

of ipecific reference to "bordering. . . nations of origin." His most im-

portant recommendation was to formulate a new law on the administra-

iion of justice, for that was "the most justified complaint of the Texas

colonists." He was totally pessimistic about aly cooperation from the

governmenr.of Codhùifa t f"¡4Þ"r,y¡ich was completgly subordinated to

ihe f"xans;ttotwifhstándilg ttre fact that "being the weakest state in the

Mexican Union, Texas is a.þäidejt':: ']
Their confidence in Austin was such that General Mier and even Vice

President Bustamante personally informed him about the bill, courtesies

that did not stop Austin from reacting violently against Article l1' None-

theless, with his customary pragmatism, Austin asked the national au-

thorities for an explanation of the term "still unfulfilled contracts," and

he suggested that Mier, who had been appointed federal commissioner of

colonization, should be charged with interpreting the law'

In Washington, the Mexican minister José María Tornel publicized

the prohibition contained in Article 11, and the publicity unquestion-

ablywas a factor in reducing emigration to Texas' Mier did not wait for

36Mier y Terán, "Reflexiones que hago sobre cada uno de 10s artículos de la

ley de 6 Oe a¡¡il de este año, en cumplimiento de lo que se me ordena," Matamoros,

June 6, 1830, AHDN, XIl4ïl.3lll92,16-22.
rlbid.
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instructions; although he knew that he was not acting in accordance with
the wishes of Alamán, he ordered the Mexican consul in New Orleans to
issue passports only for the colonies of DeWitt and Austin. When he real-
ized that many colonists were already on their way to Mexico and could
not obtain passports, he authorized Austin to issue border-crossing cer-
tificates. Such special arrangements made settlers suspect that Austin had
participated in drafting the law. Mier also procgeded to put into effect the
military provisions of the law; he requested seven thousand,men for Texas,
but they never arrived because of the national government's lack of re-
söîrces and the refusal of state governors to lend their militias. Becausê
efforts to promote immigration to Texas from other regions"of Mexico
were hampered by the indifference of the governors of the more populous
states, the natiopa.t g,olernment decided to encourage settlgment by friendly
Indians, a project later promoted by Juan N. Almonte.
***"Miér proposed to make Anglo-American colonists abide by the law
and recommended the cancellation of any colony that did not have at
least one hundred fifty inhabitants. Among those affected were the Nash-
ville Company, which had been transferred to Sterling C. Robertson, and
the Bay and Texas Land Company of David G. Burnett, Lorerfzo deZavala,
and'Joseph Vehlein; both colonies were ille"ga! þqçaISç thgy had been
sglling the land of their Contracts. When Robertson hastened to enter Texas

-wfth'fifiéen new familiès in October, he was stopped; however, for hu-
manitarian reasons, Mier permitted him'to continue to Austin's colony,
which was urged to absorb the illegal settlers. Robertson took advantage
of Austin's iinminent departure as deputy to the state legislature to ask
him to negôtiate ratification of his contract. Austin agreed, but when he
learned ìn Saltillo that Robertson's lands were going to be conveyed to a
Frenchman, Gabriel Laisné, he asked that they be given to him and his
partnèr Samuel V/illiams instead. His request was granted in I 83 1, at which
time Robertson brought suit against him.

The effects of the law of April 6 were minimized by Austin's skill in
justifying his own interpretations of it, together with the goodwill of Mier.
But the uneasiness of Texas's empresørios,was deepened by,.a¡.!-QJ2- s¡a1e

measure derived from Mexico's antislavery attitude. The new law pro-
hibitéd worker contracts of more than ten years' duration in Coahuila y
re¡.?1.,'

Ironically, the first serious problems stemmed from Mier's acts of
goodwill: otg_e _ole.þa1d-, his r9çqmme¡¡{4tio4 !o giyç pfoperty titles to
squatters who nôt only were illegal but were settled in prohibited zones

-ón the coast anà the border; on the other, his use offoreign offìcials such

3ERandolph B. Campbell, An Empíre for Slavery: The Peculiar Institution in
Texas, I82l-18ó5 (Baton Rouge: Louisiana University Press, 1989), 25,29.
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as colonels John Davis Bradburn and G-eorge Fisher-tor the.c-ommand-of

the Anáhuac gâniiðn and cùiiomstrouse, in the belief that this would fa-

cilitate commlnicatíön wiih the colonidts. Nonetheless, the two men seem

to have lacked the flexibility called for by the complicated situation of

the region. The settlers requested that Mexicans occupy the posts' about

which the Texas historian Eugeng Barkerhad the following comment:

,,,.One is temftèd to speculate on what might have happened had all [Mier
yl Terán's cãmmanders beçn ivfexicans, because the Mexican officers in

Texas seem to have been uniformly men of discretion, and with the pos-

sible exception ofColonel Piedras, at Nacogdoches, the colonists respected

.and liked them."3e

The mistake made in appointing Fisher to set up a customs office on

Galveston Island is inexplicable, for Mier knew about his unpopularity,

and after so many years of failure to collect duties on materials entering

Texas, resistahce to payment could have been predicted. Although Fisher

created a seiies of difficulties in the operation of the customs office, there

was no justification for u.S. vessels, with the support of the settlers of

Brazaríâ, io fire on Mexican soldiers guarding the customs office' Aus-

tin, accustomed to being given exceptions and privileges, complained

about the enforcement of tariffs; Mier relieved Fisher of his post, but he

replied tb Austin in unusually harsh terms:

Do you dare to say, as you did in your letter to Mr' Davis fBradburn]'
thaithe government's objective is to destroy trade in your colony? The

manyfavorsyouowetotheMexicangovernmentandthemanyconsid-
erations extended to your agents have produced in you only an ability

to voice your mistaken judgmènts and baseless complaints, with which

you p.ou-ok. discord and unrest among the colonists' ' ' ' The payment

of trade tariffs is required of Texan còlonists, just as it is required of
Mexicans everywherê, and only in Brazoria does it give rise to protests

and complainti, and causes don Juan Austin to clamor for the destruc-

tion of Mexicân guards. You say that the peoples of Texas have just

complaints. This ñust be a new development, and only you would know

whai the complaints are. Would you please name them, because no one

knows what violation has been dbne to the laws enjoyed by the peoples

ofTexas, or even to the unique privileges they have been granted-in the

Mexican Republic. you wait tÌte gou"rnm"nt to adopt a more liberal

policy.WouldyoupleaseStatewhatlibertyyoucraveinaddition.tothe
ãne túat ls alreády yours? But firsr look ar the eastern coast of the Ameri-

can continent, frôm Hudson Bay to c-ape Horn. In which nation and in

which ports do they not charge trade tariffs and where do they not have

a custóms office? . . . Only in Brazoria is this considered reason to

revolt, to have ships set out in concealment, opening fire as though^they

were pirates and iounding a Mexican soldier who, in the belief that

3eEugene c. Barker, Mexico and Texas, 1821-1835 (New York: Russell and

Russell, 1965), 104.
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those colonists are his countrymen, is caught defenseless.
. . . Sy'ithout question, what should be required is respect for the law; if
we have broken the law, direct your complaints to the government, but
do not authorize, with your opinion, insolence.4

Colonel John Davis Bradburn was determined to implement the law.
In one case, he prevented the state commissioner from granting property
titles to squatters who had settled on land under federal jurisdiction, and

he nullified the ayuntamiento that the state commissioner had installed in
a community under federal jurisdiction for the same reason. But Bradburn
was unpopular among the settlers because in 1831 he had applied the law
thât-freed those slaves who set foot in Mexican territory to the case of
-two fugitive ,iuu", from Louisiana. Mier y Terán upprou"à his cònduct
añd réquired that recovery of the slaves be dealt with through diplomatic
channels. Their owner contracted William B. Travis to defend his case,

and the latter, having no grounds for legal action, threatened to launch a
supposed rescue attack from Louisiana. Bradburn's response was to jail
Travis and to try him in a military court. His position was legal because it
involved a federal coastal zone and an accusation of conspiracy against
the government, but violence broke out-settlers attacked the Anáhuac
garrison-and Bradburn had to resign his post and flee. It soon became

evident that some settlers wanted to get rid of all military forces in Texas;

after forcing the capitulation of Anáhuac, they prepared to attack
Nacogdoches, the place where Mexican troops were still garrisoned.ar

The Right Combination of Circumstances: The Revolution of 1832

i 
' The insurrection led by Antonio Santa Anna against Vice President

hnastasio Bustamante in 1832 provided the Texas settlers with an invalu-
àble opportunity. Even though most of the Mexican army supported the
Bustamante administration, civil war in Mexico spread because of the
inefficiency of the government. Mier y Terán tried to be everywhere at

once to maintain the loyalty of his troops to the government. This preoc-

cupation led him to neglect matters in Texas, at the same time that the
unpopular actions ofBradburn and Fisherjeopardized control ofthe prov-
ince. Mier's efforts appeared to have been in vain when on June 26,1832,
the pro-Santa Anna colonel José Antonio Mexía disembarked at Brazo de

Santiago. Although their opposition to the national government stemmed,
by and large, from different reasons, the rebellious Anglo-American

aoMier y Terán toAustin, Matamoros, January 27,1832, in Filisola, Memorias,
1:185-189.

arMargaret S. Henson, Juan Davís Bradburn: A Reappraisal of the Mexican
Commander of Anahuac (College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 1982),
94-100.
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settlers gided with Mexía against the Bustamante administration and, there-

fore, agáinst Mier's militaiy iontlol of the area' From Matamoios, Austin
wrote to Mièr"to complain: "I am convinced that as the army in Texas

grows in number, the threat to that country's tranquility increases; . . . By
army, I mean everything in excess of the troops needed for garrisons of
ports and places exposed to Indians.. . . The situation in Texas is a most

unhappy one. Article 11 of the law of April6 has paralyzed progress in
the country, which is at great risk of being filled with Indians and repra-

bates, who will enter without regard for the law."az

It must have been a bitter experience for the commander to learn

about the fall ofAnáhuac to antigovernment forces and to experience the

ingratitude of his "model"
situation in Texas
hrs wrïe's departure, made desperate by the political discord and the tm-

possibility of resolving it, on July 1, t832, wearing his dress unifotm,..h-e- ,
ran his sword thrbugh his heart. His death may have sealed the fate of
Te-xas and Mexico because with it'disappeared the opportunity to have an

honest and enlightened statesman who possessed strong'national support

occupy the presidency.
General Mexía confused Texan ambitions with the federalist struggle

so that, after removing the commander of Matamoros from his post, he

traveled to Brazoria in the company of Austin. The Texans, pretending to

adhere to Santa Anna's plan against the Bustamante administration, re-

ceived General Mexía with great celebrations' ¿{,-g^ql$ drgftgd the Decla-

ration of the Ayuntamiento of San Felipe supporting Santa Anna, to which
were âdded-thiî'Siifpösed þriévánièS of Téiás; the ;'milîtãry-tyfãnä¡i of
Büðiâmante," reflected'in the arbitrary actions of Commander Mier y
Terán, who had annulled the,Libe-rtad Ayuntamiento; taken possession of
"whatever lands he wanted, thereby disregarding the rights and sover-

eignty of the state"; preventeil the issuance of land titles; and supported

the abuses of Bradburn. The colonists affirmed that they never had

"swerved from their duties a! Mexican citizens" and that they sought only
"to defend the independence and constitution of their adopted country

and the integrity of its territory."a3
The separation process gained momentum, and by October 1832f1fty-

five delegates from the TexaS communities attended a convention in San

Felipe. Three resulting petitions to the Congress of Mexico asked for an-

nulment ofÄrticle 1 i o1 tliëeóÌönîäátiön'Lävü-ôf Aþril 6, 1 830, customs

reform, issuance of titles for illegal residents, and the separation of Texas

a2Austin to Mier y Terán, Matamoros, June 27 ,1832, in Filisola' Memorias'
l:237-242.

a3"Acta de San FelipeAustin," July 15, 1832' AHDN, XU481.31788'70-76'
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and Coahuila. The meeting, which took place outside of the institutions
ãnAlãwlif-fhe Mexican republic, was condemned by botþ the political
chief of Texas'and the Béxar Ayuntamiento. The latter sent a competing
petition to the state congress, in accordance with legal procedures. It pro-
tested the attacks on state sovereignty, the actions of the military author-
ity, and the. lack of a judicial system and a border militia; it requested a
new coloni?ation law, licensedjudges, schools, agteatr..r number ofdepu-
ties for Texas, and tax exemption for ten years.aa

Nevertheless, the A¡rgJ_o,;$_A,e-1ican settlers called for a new conven-
tion to be held in,{pril 1833; the second meeting was artended by recenr

*?giv-gl_C CUch as"Samuel Hous.tol. Further decisions toward separation
included appointment of a commission to draft the constitution of the
state öf'Tèï¿s and ili"ê-sêlèctiôn"ef dèIegátes to represent Texas before rhe
federal government, Having failed to persuade the MeÏiöani of San "qn-
'tónio to support him, Austin left lo deliver the proposed constitution to
the newly.elgcted governrnent of Santa Anna in Mexico City.

-'Aüstin had confidence in the new liberal government, but he arrived
in the capital at an unfortunate moment. Federal authorities were faced
with an antigovernment movement, the deputies were set on reform, and
cholera was laying waste to the population. In his message of August 1,
1833, to the minister of foreign affairs, Austin stressed the provisional
nature of the union with Coahuila, and he pointed our rhat fþxas had 46,500

,,!n_!3þita¡ts an{ 4buq-dpg resources; qheiefgre, t-he union-sh"""q¡q p*air-'xävti¿ 
to keep Texas loyal to the Mexica.f nadòn. Wittr tris 

"sriàï 
õtil,

*"Austin softelied the threat with the statement that separation from Mexico
would be a calamity for the province. On August 12 he presented his
petition for the annulment of Article I 1 of the Law of April 6, 1830. Al-
though the federalists favored Austin, reports received from the political
chief of Béxar were not reassuring. "The Texans know very well . . . that
the time has not come for Texas to be constituted as a state. . . . Therefore,
it can easily be inferred that their revolutionary outbursts are not aimed at
turning Texas into a state. . . tU.S. Ministerl Butler, when he passed
through here in 1829,let itbe known that. . . the object of his mission
was to contract for the purchase of Texas. And the trip by land made by
this same foreigner in June of last year from Mexico City to the Austin
colony in this Department . . was what finally determined the revolu-
tionary movements of those colonists who until then were pacific."¿s

aa"Representación al H. Congreso," Béxar, December 19,1832, in Filisola,
Memorias, 1:280-301.

asRamón Múzquiz to .the governor of Coahuila y Tejas, Béjar, March ll,
1833, in Filisola, Memorias, 1:319-322.
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While Austin waited for a reply to his petition, his mood swung from
periods of optimism to those of deep depression. His volatile moods led

him to commit the inexplicable imprudence of writing to the Béxar
Ayuntamiento, which had been opposed to his taking actions outside con-

stitutional procedures, to recommend that "the ayuntamientos of Texas

place themselves in communication with each other without a moment's
delay, for the purpose of organizing a local government for Texas as a

state of the Mexican federation . . . for there is no doubt but that the fate
ofTexas depends upon itself and not upon this government."a6

Notwithstanding the reports on Texas, Austin's petitions made
progress. Mexía" and Zavala"were il"t9--{-q!!9d. in annulliqg. the prohibition
against the elirañõìf'Äirgto Americans, altþgugþ they favored convert-
iúGfãs-mtö a,i!: giy. În.ÑovemËóf 1833, President Sânta Alia con-
ieñeTä ineètinþ to discuss the matter. Au9!lg, wþo w4¡ inviled,..p.ressed
for._t!re. separalj9n..-oJ,TgltRS- "as.,a .s,ta!g. Sàñta Anna told him that it was not
opportune l'to bring up that question at the moment; fo-y¡.gs "ytllling lo
puppol¡ -lemphasis addedl' Texan claims at a suitable tirqe . . . [mean-
whilel urging the government of the state of Coahuila and Texas to pass

the appropriate reforms .' . . establishment of licensed judges, trial by
jury, and other similar measures."47 On November 21', 1833, Article 11 of
the Law of April 6, 1830, was repealed by the Mexican Congress, and

Austin, satisfied, left Mexicci City for home on December 10.

Almost at the same time, news of Austin's letter to the Béxar
Ayuntamiento reached Mexico Cìiy from Coahuila. Furious, Vice Presi-

dent Valentín Gómez Farías ordered Austin's arrest, and in Janua-ry 1-834

the Texan was arrested 
""¿ 

t**.¿.to the capital. Atrsti".*oôi"lt-iñ
eraftrieøî ôiitiôizinþ '¿ttre cothic system 11d pligious politics" of Mexico
âltd denying the separatist abpirationi offêiaôi;'îhe." have nbt been nor
âie there now plans; what they want there id improvement of the interior
government. . . . I have stated and am of the belief that the local govern-

ment ofTexas should either be put in order or that that country should be

sold to the government of the North, so that some benefit mq¿ b.e derilted

fro1n it befo-re it--is,lost.[emphasis added]."a8 A copy of this letter was -'
*-.entered 

into his file, further prejudicing his situation.
The Mexican government, fearing disturbances, decided to send Gen-

eral Juan N. Almonte to the region to assure the people that the federal
government was exploring solutions for Texas and to observe conditions

a6Austin to the Ayuntamiento of Béjar, Mexico, October 2, 1833, EI Te lé g raþ,
December 30, 1833.

aTFilisola, M emorias, 2:22-23.
aEAustin to Rafael Llano, Monterrey, January 14, 1832, AHDN XI/481.3/

t077,33-36.
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there.ae Although Almonte arrived expecting the worst, he was favorably
impressed. His recommendations coincided with the actions that the state
government, on advice of the federal government, was starting to put into
effect: 

9-n 
i¡_c¡eàsed-number of ayuntamientos, the appointment of politi-

cal chiêfs in the departments, of Brazos and Nacogdoches, the introduc-
tion of trial by jury, and the use of'Fngtish as I ¡e9ond lalguage. All of
the foregoiirg were established by law in the state of Coahuila y Te¡as on
April 17, 1834. Almonte advised that Austin be set free and that because
of the danger of a large influx of Anglo-American immigrants, Indians be

..!g!!!e*4_qu-,f sd-ç¡-a-I._la¡ds..,

The Texans did not respond. Although some ayuntamientos endorsed
petitions in support of Austin, they did not forward them-perhaps be-
cause of the influence of recent arrivals who had different goals. Barker
cites the animosity of U.S. MinisterAnthony Butler, who.consideredAustin
to be "one of the greätêst enemiei õf our gòygrnmg¡1! and.peoplp" and
cãusdóf";the defeat of our final efforts to obtain the cession of Texas."so

Neveithëless, Mexico's political õhanges favored Austin. Santa Anna
had initially allowed Vice President Gómez Farías to introduce liberal
reforms, but when opposition grew, he took over the government in April
1834. He then lifted the ban on communication with Austin and pressed
for a speedy resolution of his case, which was complicated by questions
of jurisdiction. Austin was distressed that he did not have greater support
to counteract the writings of his enemies against him. In January 1835 he
published his Exposition to the Public Regarding the ffiairs of Texas.sl
In it, he labeled as mere rumor the news about the independence of Texas,
which wanted only to become a state of the federation-an event that
would "tie Texas more and more closely to the republic.l'He went on to
explain Texan grievances about its judicial system and government. He
made use of the petition of the Ayuntamiento of Béxar, "whose popula-
tion is made up of Mexicans, all by birth," and he justified the San Felipe
meetings as "an exercise ofthe right to petition that belongs to every free
people." Austin's situation had improved and, with the assistance of two
lawyers sent from Texas, he was released on bond. V/hile waiting for his
case to be dismissed or for a pardon, he enjoyed, for the first time in ten
years, six months of "civilized" life. In July 1835 he was able to leave for
Veracruz on his way to New Orleans, and on September t he was back in

aeCelia Gutiérrez Ibana, Cómo México perdió Texas: Aruilisis y transcripción
del informe secreto (1834) de Juan Nepornuceno Almonte (Mexico: Instituto
Nacional de Antropología e Historia, 1987), Apéndice.

soButler to his government, July 13, 1834, in Barker, Liþ of Austin,39l.
5rStephen F. Austin, Exp osición al público sobre los asuntos de Tejas (Mexico:

Sebrig,1835).
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Texas, where he found that, during his absence, changing circumstances
had led to new disturbances.

The Texan Conspiracy at a Critical Time in Mexico

In Texas the flow of Anglo-American immigrants, which had never

ceased, was further stimulated by cancellation of Article 11 (the prohibi-

Texas: A Mexican Perspective 7l
capital. In 1834 conservatives urged President SantaAnna to overturn the
federal system and introduce centralism. Centralists pointed to the bra-
zen references in the U.S. press to the forthcoming annexation of Texas
and justified changing the system, in part, as the only way to safeguard
the integrity of national territory. Thus fear of losing Texas prevented
reforms from being made to the Constitution of 1824-that is, an adjust-
ment similai tò the one made in the United States in I'7&7.IVhen the
national congress moved to restructure the nation, some states such as
Zacatecas defied their orders. The situation eventually degenerated into
civil war, as Mexicans were divided into federalists and.çe,!.t{gliq!9: fak-
ing advantage of national discord, Saltillo declared that Monclova had
become the state capital illegally and selected its own governor.

The Texan deputies who were present in Saltillo took advantage of
the opportunity to strengthen the autonomy of their province and recom-
mended that a meeting be held in Béxar to establish a provisional govern-
ment. The new political chief of Béxar, Juan N. Seguín, sympathized with
the settlers and called for a meeting in November, but it was postponed
because of the advancing troops led by the commander of the Interior
Provinces.

The governor of Coahuila y Tejas, Agustín Yiezca, and the radical
federalists were afraid that Santa Anna would march against Coahuila
after destroying resistanceinZacatecas. On ^}lf.ay 21,1835, the state leg-
islature disbanded and authorized Governor Yiezca "to establish an of-
fice in another part of the State that is not the capital." When he left for
Béxar on June 25, Yiezca issued a declaration in which he made the fol-
lowing appeal: "Citizens of Texas, arise and take arms, or sleep forever!
Your most cherished interests, your liberty, your properties, even more,
your very existence depend on the changing whims of your most relent-
less foes."57 In late June, Governor Viezca was arrested as the two groups
struggled for control of the state.

The national and state conflicts profoundly affected the situation in
Texas. The flash point came in 1835, which marked the end of the two-
year grace period on tariffs granted in 1833 and hence reinstallation of
the Anáhuâc customs office. The settlers were not prepared to pay, and by
July they organized their resistance under the direction of William Travis,
whose broader objective was to expel Mexican troops from Texas, using
as pretext the imprisonment of Governor Agustín Yiezca. Viezca undoubt-
edly misinterpreted the Texan rebellion as sympathetic to the federalist
cause. When he finally escaped and reached Texas, however, he was not
recognized as governor. The Texan situation was complex. Whereas a lo-
cal convention held in Columbia reprimanded Travis for his taking over

tion against foreignéis) of
extensiöñ ürä5 åþpfóvéã- for

2ätion Law öf April 6

all settlement ad not met the

time limit, such as those of Zavala and Sterling C. Robertson, who was in
litigation against Austin. Except for permission to own slaves, most of
the San Felipe requests had been granted. Administration had improved
with division into districts and the addition of new ayuntamientos*The

adminisffation of justice in Texas more efficient"
jury and

"plan for making the
put into effect trial by that every defendant would be

tried in his own language.52 Anoiher concession was to appoint an Anglo
American, Jefferson Chambers; a-s gupe¡ior circuit iudge of Texas in I 835.53

....,,,; '' Permission for Anglo Americans to enter freely and rumors that the
'' i United States was about to purchase Texas spurred land speculation. Texan

deputies to the state congress promoted the auôüon-of vacant lânds be-
' longing to the state, and they obtained new concessions in 1834. Even

though forbidden by federal and state law, sale of Texas land was openly
advertised in North American newspapers. Therefore, the reforms that

came into force in 1834 could not quell dissent; a militant group of set-

tlers called the "war ìuoty" wanted to "separate Texas from Mexico at

any cost."sa {ustin himself had changed his mind to suit his interests.

Apprehensive about the grandiose speculation schemes that appeared to

be tolerated in Mexico, he decided to support independg_nce.]5 By 1833

his vacillations about the issue of slavery had turned into the certainty
that "Texas must be a slave country. Circumstances and unavoidable ne-

cessity compel it. It is the wish of the people there and it is my duty to do
all I can, prudently, in favor of it. I will do so."56

Political conflicts in the state and the nation contributed to the uncer-

tainty of the time. The state legislature transferred the capital from Saltillo
to Monclova in Marih 1833, causing considerable resentment in the former

52Vito Alessio Robles, Coahuila y Texas desde la consumación de la
independencia hasta el tra.tado de paz de Guadalupe Hidalgo,2 vols. (Mexico:
Talleres Gráficos de la Nación, 1945-1946), l:493-495.

s3Ibid.
saAndreas Reichstein, Rise of the Lone Star: The Making of Texas (College

Station: Texas A&M University Press, 1989), 190.
55lbid., 111-112.
56Austin to Willy Martin, May 30, 1833, in Barker, Life of Austin,224.
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sTAlessio Robles, Coahuila y Texas,2:22.
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command of Anáhuac and declared its "desire to remain united with
the federal government,"ss which forced Travis to reassure the Béxar
commander that he wanted only peace and "to see the government firmly
established on a permanent foundation,"se in east Texas the war w'as
dominant. On July 8, 1835, the political chief of Nacogdoches summoned
the militias to take up arms against the Mexican troops and called on the
rest of the citizens to organize themselves into a volunteer army.60 The
battle had begun.

The national government took time to mobilize. President Sant4An¡_¿
planned a qpri4g expedition. He ordered General Cos to concentrate all
his troops in Béxar, to avoid provoking the settlers, and not to take any
offensive. As a result of the pressure of events, however, Cos made mis-
takes: He refused to receive a conciliatory commission of colonists, and
he ordered the anest of Travis, which stirred up Anglo-American feelings
agaírisf ihè militàry authorities

With the arrival gf Lorenzo de Zavala, who was an enemy of Santa
Anna and had broad interests in Texas, the revolution escalated, although
Austin's return brought hope to the partisans of order. But the empresario
had changed his position and now açknowledged his desire to see Texas

"forever free of any Mexican ço.¡trol"; he even began to talk about an-
nexation to the United State.s.6r On learning that troops were marching
fiom Béxar to Matamoros, he issued a calito ur-, und prepared for a
meeting of representatives.

The first violent incident occurred in Gonzáles on October.2, and on
the 9th, Cos entered Béxar. It was not easy to mobitize the settlers, who
were a peaceable people; but this difficulty had been anticipated, and the
"Texas Committees;" which already operated in New Orleans, New York,
and other cities, mustered volunteers, sent arms and money, and publicly
promoted the war. The volunteers were under Houston's command; the
militias, under Austin's.

The Columbia Convention met on November 3, 1835, and declared
null and void the '1pact" with Mexico because it had established central-
ism. The body organized a provisional state government based "on the
principles of the 1 824 Constitution." Barker acknowledges that this mani-
festation of loyalty to the Constitution was only "an expression of Austin's
characteristic caution."62 Some Mexicans-including Francisco Ruiz,
J. Antonio Navarro, and Lorenzo de Zavala-signed the independence
document; others were simply fgdepllsts and óln.o-1ed.the cên11â!!.9t re-

5E"Reunión de Columbia," June 28, 1835, AHDN XIl48l.2/1100, 300-331.
5eW. B. Travis to Ugartechea, San FelipeAustin, July 31, 1835, ibid., 87-88.
m"El Jefe Político a sus habitantes," Nacogdoches, July 8, 1835, ibid., 88.
6rAustin to Burnett, October 5, 1835, in Barker, Lifu of Austin, 421.
62Barker, Life of Austin,42l.

disappear."63 lr-i$e mq¡y in-{!_1!d.WJ-s,_the- pe_p-ple._o"it-he forvns..near-.thç-Rio-.
Grande misunderstood the intentions of the Te¡ag-reb,e-fs, ac,qnf.usio¡-t^h¿t
hampeieil thè môvàmentJofìfrä vt"*i"ãn u.my. so*" of rhe sertlers who
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gime in Mexico City. Even the exiled Gómez Farías wrote to Miguel
Barragán, who served as acting president while Santa Anna commanded
the nation's army in the struggle to impose centralism, to assure him that
if he extended "a frotective hand to the colonists, their discontent would

remained löyâf tö Meiiöö, èspeôially-thöle of Irish extraction- !ate-1 pvgre 
_

obliged to follow the Mexican army o-¡¡t 9f f_ç,a¡ _of -r-çpusals.
The surfendér of S¿xâi ió Ãnglóämerican settlers on December 14,

1835, furthered the cause of independence. In addition to the symbolic

independence.
Austin demonstrated his shrewdness by taking 4dvanla-gg of Mexico's

political conflicts. He had united most Texans even beforà therè was a
danger ofrepression by the arrival ofthe division led by SantaAnna. The
'latteris earlier wanton cruelty in the destruction of the city of. Zacatecas
made it easier to convince the undecided that they had no other choice
than to fight for independence.

A RevolutÍon for Independence?

Santa Anna departed from Mexico City in November- 1835 and en-
tered Texas in February 1836. ATexan mission had already traveled to
the United States seeking aid; although they were not able to obtain a
loan, they did spread news of the availabilil: of l4¡a ¡¡¡ Tgx4s, thereby
ensuring the arrival of many volunteers. All Mexican attempts to halt that
avalanche seemed futile, for notwithstanding the U.S. government's dec-
laration of neutrality, local authorities supported the Texans. The Mexi-
Òarr government, concerned about foreìgn interference in Mexico's
domestic problems, had published on December 30, 1835, a circular that
it made sure was widely distributed abroad. "These acts, condemned by
the wise laws of the United States of North America" had caused the Mexi-
can government to decide "to treat and punish as pirates all foreigners
who enter with arms and hostile intentions, or who introduce arms and
munitions through any port of the Mexican Republic."6a

63Farías to Barragán, Monterrey, June 2, 1835, BLAC, archive of Valentín
Gómez Farías, 352.

6aJosé Basilio Arrillaga, Recopilación de leyes, decretos, bandos, vol. 2
(Mexico: Fernández de Lara, 1834-1850), 678.
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This measure, which was carried out to the letter by Santa Anna, was

a desperate attempt to maintain control of the territory in the face of the

nagránt iitervention of foreigners against Mexico's governmeÌt. Natu-

rally, the government did not authorize massacres, as in the case of the

prisoners of Goliad. At the time these events occurred, the instructions

stated:

1. When a surrender takes place . . ' it shall be strictly ob-

served, according to international law.

2. Excluded from this case are promoters of revolution, those

who have belonged to the so-called general council of Texas,

those who have performed the duties of governor ' . . those who

have commanded a military division or fortification . - . they shall
be judged, sentenced, and executed, according to the law lem-
phasis addedl.

3. Persons who, after Texas's declaration of rebellion, have

come to its'territory in armed expedition . . . shall be judged and
punished as pirates [emphasis added], as announced in the cir-
cular of December 30th. . . .

5. Those colonizers who have taken no part in the revolution
. . . shall remain in the territory.65

The order sought to avoid excesses, to calm the territory, and to reor-
ganize it under the-old system. Moreover, another congressional decree,

ofApril 14, 1836, cancéllèd part of paragraph 3a by stating that Texan

prisoners taken during the war with Texas when this decree was pub-

lished, who may have incurred capital punishment under such laws, are

pardoned even though they may have been captured with arms in hand.66

Meanwhile, a convention held in Washington-on-the-B!,az9s.!I9-
claimed Texas-'s independeqCé fiðm lvfeiiðð ön Märch Z, 1836, and elected

Datid G. Burnett and Lorenzo deZavala as president and vice president

of ttre new iepublic. The deciaratiòn defined the struggle in iexas as a

fight âgainst tyra¡ny; it justified the revolt on the necessity to protect

Qasic rigþtg..q-+d-on the fact that Mexico had annulled the federal pact.

Ttle ¿ectaraiion also stated that the Meiican government had invited the

colonists and had made a commitment to them "under word of a written
constitution" that they would continue to enjoy "the republican institu-
tions to which they were accustomed in their native land, the United States

of America." The document alluded to the rejection of the colonists' peti-

tion to establish a separate state; the imprisonment of Austin; the failure
to establish trial by jury and an educational system, "even though there

65Tornel to SantaAnna, March 18, 1836, in Filisola, Memorias,2:371-379.
ó6Dub1án and Lozano, Legislación, 3:142.
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exist immense resources allocated from public revenues"; and the
of the colonists' right to worship the Supreme Being in théii oyu 

-w.êy- "-The grievances enumerated in the document nof only were false, they

Jle-re-unfair. The empresarios had lobbied to obtain concessiois, áná their
first permits had been granted by a monarchy under conditions that they
had consistently violated. [.ack of resources had prevented ambitioùs edu-
cational projects from being carried out. As for the administration of jus-
tice, it was true that although the 1812 r-efo¡m þ4! en{._d lhe gl{ _sy_q!qm,

it had not managed to implement the new; therefore, despite its being

3lien to Spanish"juridical fr¿dition, trial by jury had been initiated in
Coahuila y Tejas"ir¡ 1834, as the settlersù3{re_gges-t_ed.

No group in Mexico iecglv-ed às many p-f!"yi!-Sgç_q as. lhe Teåans be-
cause'thê' government was determined to make the colonization work.
Santa Anna did not become dictator until 184], and thus there was abso-
lutely no reason to speak of tyranny. Margaret S. Henson has argued that
Anglo-American immigrants were not aware that the 1824 Constitution
did not contain a bill of rights.67 Although not so named and less clearly
defined than they would be in the Centralist Constitution of 1836, the
basic rights of freedom of assembly and freedom of speech in Mexico
were guaranteed by bg-qh ghe-' Sp_4nis_tr_Çgl"s-lgtioI 

-oJ ,1Q1? and the Mexi-
can Constitution of 1824; during the first fèdèiãl iepublic (1823-1835) it
was preciseiy àtiuSê õf those rights that undermined institutional stabil-
ity. When Béxar authorities objected to the meetings held in Texas, they
did so because the settlers had not made use of their right to petition
through the ayuntamiento, the political chief, or the state le¡lislature-the
minimal respect owed to the institutions of the country that had taken
them in.

Barker and other North American historians have stressed differences
in political tradition as a caúse of the Anglo-Mexican friction. Andreas
Reichstein has presented a convincing argument against this thesis, and
he has stated that, wllþ lgmg exg,eptlon¡, ¡g,!t!e¡s {¡om þ9!þ 9uttyr99 tiv,ed
together peacefully. For him, an important factor in the expansionist move-
'ñXr.$ 

\i/-äö l1{ìd.s"p-qculatip¡r. He also has challenged the idea that this rep-
resented a revolution. "No one wanted to change anything in Mexico itself.
They were not turning against an oppressive system of government, but
rather against cohabitation with and in a foreign country."68 Therefore the
comparison with the which was usgd ag p-rqp-êganda to
obtain North American support, was ln no way justified.

6TMargaret S. Henson, "Tory Sentiment in Anglo-Texan Public Opinion,
1832-1836," Southwestern Historical Quarterly 90, no. I (1986): 1-3a.

68Reichstein, Rise of the Lone Star, 194.
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T-þ9_ slggif-{cant role that Mexico's antislavery .$tance played-in
the Texan independence may be seen in some of the features of the

constitution adopted by theindèpendent Texans. This charter, influenòéd
by the constitutions of the Southern states, stated:

I'i'' Section 9. All persons of color who were slaves for life pre-

vious to their emigration to Texas and who are now held in bond-
age shall-r-e-m-ain in the state-of servitude, provided the said slave

shall báthe bona fide property of the person so holding said slave

as aforesaid. Congress shall not pass laws to prohibit bringing
their slaves into the Republic with them and holding them by,the
same tenure by which such slaves were held in the United States;

nor shall Congress have power to emancipate slaves; nor shall
any slave holder be allowed to emàñcipate hib or her slaves with-
out the consent of Congress, unless he or she shall send his or
her slave or slaves without the limits of the Republic. No free
person of African descent, in whole or in part, shall be permitted
to reside permanently in the Republic without the consent of
Congress. . . .

Section 10. All persons (Africans, the descendants of Afri-
cans, and Indians excepted) who were residing in Texas on the

day of declaration of independence, shall be considered citizens
of the Republic.6e

In this way, one of the great differences with Mexico was resolved.

Irish colonists from San Patricio who took refuge in Matamoros reported
that "the establishment of slavery as a pennanent institution was one of- ' the principal causes of the rebellion."7o

After taking the Alamo in March, Santa Anna pursued the Texan gov-
ernment, but on Aprll 21,1836, he suffered a humiliating defeat ?t San

.J*açinto. Plans to reorganize Texas and hope of ending the rebellion were

frustrated. Even though Mexico's president and commander in chief had

been taken prisoner, his second in command, Vicente Filisola, obeyed his

orders to withdraw the other Mexican columns below the Rio Grande; the

indep-endence of Texas was lhus consolidated, The Mexican Congress did
iot recognize the independence ofTexas and sought to subdue thp rebçl-
liòus province. Subsequently, federalist insurrections, threats from abroad,

6e"Constitution of the Republic of Texas. March 17, 1836," Laws of the Re-
public ofTexas, 2 vols. (Houston: Office of the Telegraph, 1838), II, 19.

?oBritish subjects in San Patricio to His Excellency the Plenipotentiary Min-
ister of His British Majesty in Mexico, Matamoros, June l, 1838, Public Record
Office, London (PRO), F050, 144, 117-118.
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and lack of resources fn1{g-.1| ¡mpo--gsible for Nfexico to.-renew- the war
with- Texas.

On May 14, Santa Anna signed two treaties in Velasco. In the public
one, he agreed never again to take up arms against the people ofTexas, to

ã shiþ böund-for Veracruz. Neither side kept its commitment. Santa Anna
did not promote recognition of Texas, and under pressure from its volun-
teer soldiers, the Texan government did not comply with its agreement to
ship Santa Anna back to Mexico; h9-_y4s Uot f¡eed ¡¡ntil Houston became
president in the fall of 1836.

The Texas episode has not been examined properly. North American
historiography, by and large, has sought to demonstrate the veracity of
the Texan Declaration of Independence. The few Mexicans who have dealt
with the subject have accepted uncritically, with slight variations, the self-
serving Texan version. No one seems to have understood the great sig-
nificance that the colonization of Texas had for the founders of the Mexican
republic, who sought to emulate the success of their northern neighbor.
They werðproTóirnilly-disi'fluslóñêd-by thê results:'Mtjiéòîer, Texan at-
tempts to claim territories that had never formed part of the province placed
still more obstacles in the way of its being recognized as a sovereign
nation by Mexico. Thus a situation was created that would prove disas-
trous for Mexico, for it ultimately justified a war of conquest by the United
States and the loss of half of its national territory.
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